IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-2252

L.T. No. 4D06-4349 and 4D07-5 Consolidated with: 4D06-1535

ALBERT SALEEBY,

Petitioner,

VS.

ROCKY ELSON CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF AN OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

._____

INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS OF PETITIONER ALBERT SALEEBY

Edward G. Rubinoff, Esq. Andrew M. Moss, Esq. KUTNER, RUBINOFF & MOSS, P.A. 501 N.E. 1st Ave., Ste. 300

Miami, FL 33132

Telephone: (305) 358-6200 Facsimile: (305) 577-8230 Mark Hicks, Esq. Dinah Stein, Esq. Brett C. Powell, Esq. HICKS & KNEALE, P.A. 799 Brickell Plaza, Ste. 900 Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 374-8171 Facsimile: (305) 372-8038

INTRODUCTION

This Brief is filed on behalf of Petitioner Albert Saleeby ("Saleeby"), the Plaintiff and Appellant below. Saleeby seeks review of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion affirming the final judgment entered against him by the trial court. As will be seen below, the Fourth District's opinion is at variance with the well established law of this state, and is incompatible with the pronouncements of this Court. As such, the Fourth District's opinion must be overturned and this case remanded to the trial court for a new trial on all issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Background Facts

1. The Accident

On Saturday, December 18, 1999, Albert Saleeby was crushed in a construction accident when a row of roof trusses he had been installing collapsed on him. Each of these trusses was 74 feet long and weighed approximately 700 pounds. (T. 216). The accident left Saleeby a paraplegic, with no feeling from his armpits to his feet. (R. 908). In addition, Saleeby suffers from neurological injuries, and his memory is impaired. (R. 937-47).

The accident occurred at the construction site of a private horse arena in Wellington ("the Dudiak arena"). Rocky Elson Construction, Inc., was responsible for installing the trusses that would form the roof of the arena.

On Friday, December 17, 1999, the day before the accident, Elson Construction was erecting these 74-foot long wood trusses atop the tie beams of the arena. (T. 182; 761). Elson's truss erection crew consisted of seven workers. (T. 292-97). Five workers were above ground working on the tie beams and trusses. The other two workers were on the ground hooking trusses to the crane, holding the "tag lines" that control the trusses as they are lifted by the crane, and tossing up temporary bracing material to the workers above. (T. 769-770).

That afternoon, Mr. Elson, owner of Elson Construction, decided the crew should work on Saturday even though it would be short two of its members – himself and another carpenter. (T. 304-06).

On Saturday morning, an Elson Construction representative arrived at Labor for Hire, a contract labor company, and told its manager, Mr. Gomez, that he needed two day laborers for clean up work at a job site. (T. 305; 1209-10). Such work is classified as manual labor, and requires no skill or training. (T. 1210; 1201). Labor for Hire's workers were classified, paid, and the charges for their services were based, upon their level of experience and training. (T. 1201; 1280, 1316). Gomez testified that it was essential that the workers did not work beyond

¹ At trial, evidence would be adduced indicating that the reason Mr. Elson decided to continue work on this day was that he was behind schedule on a job for which he had underbid, and was losing money. (T. 175-177). Elson would maintain,

their level of experience, because they could be injured, and Labor for Hire would be exposed to liability if an accident occurred. (T. 1279-80). Consequently, it was essential that the workers were used only for the type of work they were specifically classified and sent out to do. (T. 1279-80; 1308).

With the understanding that they would only be used for clean up, Gomez assigned Saleeby and another man to Elson to clean up the work site. (T. 764; 1210, 1214).² Nevertheless Jay Brochu, Elson's foreman, put Saleeby to work assisting in the erection of the trusses, rather than the clean up responsibilities for which Saleeby had been hired. Plaintiff was told to man a tag line to assist in the process of lifting the trusses by crane up to the workers, and to throw wooden materials to the workers who were setting the trusses on the tie beams. (T. 765-769).

Brochu claimed that he called Labor for Hire on Saturday to upgrade both Saleeby's and the other man's status to that of semi-skilled workers, in order to reflect the type of work these men were performing and to increase their pay accordingly. Brochu admitted, however, that he never asked for or received authorization from Gomez to change Saleeby's work status; he simply claimed that

1.

however, that Mr. Elson made this decision because he wanted the opportunity to pay his workers overtime wages. (T. 115-116).

² It is undisputed that Saleeby had no experience as a carpenter or with truss installation. (T. 1205; 255-56).

he left a phone message at Labor for Hire's office, to which he got no response. (T. 764-65; 854).

Gomez testified that he received no such call and, if he had, he would not have agreed to allow Saleeby to work as a semi-skilled employee, due in part to the danger it presented to Plaintiff, and other workers. (T. 1214-15; 1279-80). Gomez testified that it was not until Monday that Labor for Hire was first contacted about changing Saleeby's status. (T. 1290). Gomez unequivocally testified that Labor for Hire had no contract with Elson Construction for Saleeby to do the type of work that Elson had unilaterally assigned him to do. (T. 1279).

As Saturday's workday came to a close, one of Elson Construction's workers noticed that one of the trusses that they had placed the previous day was starting to bow. Brochu and the other workers walked over to the trusses. As Mr. Brochu thought about how to add bracing to the trusses, the other workers looked on, waiting for instruction. (T. 824-25; 1727-31; 1768-70; T. 1967-69). As Brochu explained:

... I walked over there. Somebody said something to me, because Jeffrey Cline's car and Chris' car were underneath the south side trusses. And I believe Jeff said to me, did you see that truss over there? It's got a little bow in it. And I said, no, which one? And I started walking over there to look at it and everybody followed me. Everybody followed me over there. And I remember glancing up at it and said, we'll throw another brace on it. And like that, I wasn't underneath there probably 10 seconds before I heard a snap. And somebody yelled, run. I couldn't tell you who yelled, run, or – but we all just took off running.

(T. 825-826). Unfortunately, Saleeby and his workmate were unable to get out from under the falling timber in time, and were crushed beneath it. (R25:826-28).

2. Evidence of Elson's Liability

Saleeby filed suit against Tektonica-USA, Inc., (the general contractor), A-1 Roof Trusses, Ltd., Co., (the manufacturer of the trusses) and Elson Construction. Ultimately, the suit proceeded to trial only against Elson. (R. 1173).

The testimony at trial established that Elson had not followed the minimum safety requirements of the applicable building codes, and indicated that this failure directly led to the collapse that rendered Saleeby a paraplegic. (T. 207; 521-523; 566-568; 580; 701-702; 714-715; 909-912; 1054-1055).

Saleeby called Mr. John Herring to testify regarding his observations at the accident site and his opinions regarding the cause of the collapse. (T. 895). Mr. Herring is CEO and president of A-1 Building Components (formerly A-1 Roof Trusses), the company that manufactured the trusses involved in the collapse. (T. 896). Mr. Herring has been involved in truss design for over twenty years and, as a board member of the National Wood Truss Association of America, he has taught extensively on the subjects of proper construction and bracing of wood trusses. (T. 906-909).

Mr. Herring testified that he had been involved in the development of the standards for bracing wood trusses during construction—later incorporated into

standard "HIB-91" and adopted into the Standard and South Florida Building Codes. (T. 910-911).

This minimum industry standard was also published to truss installers via the "Pink Sheet," a Summary Sheet of HIB-91's requirements. (A17-22; T. 912), both of which are delivered to every job with every truss package and order. (T. 909-12; 207). Proper temporary bracing was a central theme of HIB-91. (T. 528-29). HIB-91, §2.1 states that if its minimum standards are not followed "the collapse of the structure may result …which could result in loss of life." (T. 701-02).³

Mr. Herring testified that A-1 had fabricated the trusses used at the Dudiak arena and had been called out to examine the accident site on the day after the collapse. (T. 1001-1002). He testified that during his examination of the trusses that had not fallen, he noticed that these trusses had not been properly braced and were bowing. (T. 1007). Herring testified that he declared the remaining trusses to

_

³ Plaintiff's engineering expert, Kurt Grundahl, testified that Standard Building Code §2309.2.3 required that "trusses shall be braced in accordance with the Truss Plate Institute Commentary and Recommendations for Handling, Installing and Bracing Metal Plate Connected Wood Trusses HIB-91." (T. 521-23). HIB-91 set forth the minimum industry standards for temporary bracing of trusses. (T. 657). The HIB-91 Summary Sheet "Pink Sheet," that was delivered with the trusses to the work site, also contained temporary bracing requirements for truss erection and also directed the installer to consult an engineer if trusses had spans greater than 60 feet (Id.; T. 604-08; T. 987). It contained warnings of dangers associated with

be unsafe and advised the contractor on site that workers should not go underneath them until proper bracing was put in place. (T. 1007).

Mr. Herring's testimony described the requirements of the applicable building codes, and the various ways in which the installation of the Dudiak arena trusses was insufficient and dangerous. (T. 984-1029). To this end, Mr. Herring testified that he observed that 1x4 lengths of wood had been used in the bracing process, rather than the 2x4 braces required of the code. (T. 1011-1013). In addition, Mr. Herring testified that the trusses had been braced using "8 penny" nails, rather than longer, stronger "16 penny" nails required by the standard. (T. 1012). Consistent with his deposition testimony, Herring opined that the collapse was the result of a gross lack of bracing. (T. 1054-1055).

Contrary to the requirements of the code, Elson Construction did not consult or otherwise obtain supervision by an engineer or architect during truss erection, and did not follow HIB-91's minimum standards as to temporary bracing, all of which caused the trusses to collapse. (T. 566-68, 580).

Indeed, even Elson Construction's own expert engineer, William Pistorino, admitted that HIB-91 was the industry standard for the temporary bracing of trusses (T. 657); that Elson Construction failed to follow the requirements of HIB-

improper bracing and each page warned: "Failure to follow these recommendations could result in severe personal injury..." (Id.).

7

91 and its Summary Sheet as to temporary bracing; and that "If [Elson Construction] had more closely followed the installation and the HIB-91, that would have reduced the probability of a collapse occurring." (T. 714-15). John Herring testified that the quality of Elson's bracing of these trusses was so deficient as to constitute a "zero to one" on a scale of ten. (T. 1054). As Plaintiff's expert Grundahl explained, "This was an accident just waiting to happen." (T. 568).⁴

Elson construction workers were not instructed as to how to properly brace trusses until after the accident occurred. Although Rocky Elson, owner of Elson Construction, denied that the use of improper bracing was the root cause of the accident, he acknowledged: "And the only difference that we might have done [after the accident] is we might have used 2x4s instead 1x4s at that time, because of the accident and we were advised by an engineer what to do to fix the problem, supplied by the general contractor." (T. 197).

_

⁴ Evidence adduced at trial also indicated that Elson Construction engaged in a cover-up of the cause of the accident by adding additional bracing to the trusses after the accident, and then denying having done so. The deputy sheriff who investigated the accident testified that between first going to the scene at 3:18 p.m., and returning at 7:06 p.m., additional bracing had been added to the trusses that had not fallen, on both the north and south ends of the arena (R29:1425-28).

3. The Trial Court's Ruling Allowing Evidence of A-1's Settlement

Despite the fact that Saleeby had previously obtained an *agreed* order granting his motion in limine to exclude reference to A-1's previous settlement with Saleeby, Elson sought during trial to explore this area on cross examination of Mr. Herring. (App. 13-15; T. 944).⁵

Over Saleeby's objections, the trial court ruled that Elson could cross-examine Mr. Herring with the fact that A-1 had previously been a defendant in the case and had paid money to settle with Saleeby. The trial court ruled that this testimony was admissible as evidence of Mr. Herring's bias toward Saleeby. (T. 950-951). Central to the court's ruling was the court's belief that Mr. Herring had a "direct interest" in the case, despite the fact that A-1 had previously settled the case and retained no financial or other interest in it. (T. 951). Armed with this ruling, counsel for Elson repeatedly made the point to the jury that Mr. Herring's company had paid money to Saleeby in order to settle Saleeby's suit against it. (T. 1060-1061; 1160-1161). In this manner, defense counsel implied that A-1 must be responsible for Saleeby's injuries and that Saleeby was attempting to extract a double recovery for his injuries.

-

⁵ The Agreed Order granting Saleeby's motion in limine was added into the appellate record pursuant to Saleeby's Motion to Supplement the Record, filed contemporaneously with Saleeby's Initial Brief, and is included in Saleeby's

4. The Trial Court's Ruling Allowing Disclosure of Worker's Compensation Benefits

As noted above, Labor for Hire's manager, Mr. Gomez, testified at trial that no contract with Elson was ever formed for Saleeby to do the type of work that Elson required of him. Mr. Gomez also testified that, had Elson properly requested that Saleeby's status be upgraded to that of a semi-skilled worker, Mr. Gomez would never have allowed this change to be made. (T. 1214-1215; 1223-1224). As Mr. Gomez explained the reasons for his position:

Mainly, you know, if the guy's not qualified to do the work, depending on what it is, you know, you either could be injured, injure someone; that's one item. And the other item is, you know, if your plumbing backs up at the house, I can't send you know an electrician, you want a plumber. So you know, I've got to send a qualified person to do the qualified job, it can't be one thing, you know, send one skill set if the job that you're asking me for is a totally different skill set.

Q: What about exposure to your company for an accident of that person that you send out was doing what they were not sent out to do and perhaps cause an accident; is that a concern?

A: That's always a huge concern.

(T. 1280). Elson argued that, based upon Mr. Gomez' acknowledgement that he was concerned over his company's liability for potential accidents, Elson was entitled to question Mr. Gomez regarding Labor for Hire's liability to provide Saleeby with worker's compensation benefits. Elson argued that this information was indicative of Mr. Gomez' bias. (T. 1295).

[&]quot;Appendix to Initial Brief of Appellant." References to this Appendix are cited as

Saleeby objected to this line of questioning, explaining the rationale behind the controlling precedent excluding evidence of worker's compensation benefits:

... typically the reason that worker's comp is kept out is because it conveys to the jury, inappropriately, that these people or the plaintiff has received money and benefits, therefore, you know, the plaintiff has been taken care of so we don't have to, you know, do anything.

(T. 1303). The trial court rejected this argument and allowed the evidence, stating:

... [Y]ou can always cross examine a witness on their interest and their conduct and things like that. And frankly, I don't think worker's compensation carries that kind of – carries the impression in the mind of the public that it completely and adequately insures people when they're injured on the job. I think that it carries in the mind of the public that it falls short of completely and adequately compensating people, when they are seriously injured on the job, anyway. So I don't think the prejudice outweighs its admissibility.

(T. 1304).

Upon obtaining this ruling, Elson questioned Mr. Gomez as follows:

Q. Mr. Gomez, I was asking you when you referred to exposure of your company, what did you mean by that?

A: Exposure? Worker's comp exposure to our company?

Q: Let me ask you this, how come I'm making nine bucks an hour for an employee but you're only paying him five bucks an hour, what does that four bucks go to?

A: Profit, payroll taxes, worker's comp insurance, and any other expense that goes with running a business: Accounting, transportation, turning on the lights, computers.

Q: So one of the benefits, if I get an employee from you, he comes over and acts as if he's my employee, but you handle all payroll, taxes, work comp and all that other good stuff?

(App. __)."

Q: Is that right?

A: Correct.

(T. 1308-1309).

Q: You said you have no stake except for the exposure to your company, right?

A: If I'm not mistaken, that's been settled for years, and I have not...

(T. 1326). Defense counsel's questioning on the subject concluded with the following question:

Q: And you had said earlier that it's very important, that one of the concerns about people not doing the job right is your exposure to worker's compensation insurance?

A: Correct.

(T. 1355-1356). Thus, the defense repeatedly brought up the subject of worker's compensation benefits, primarily through questions unrelated to the witness' potential bias.

5. The Trial Court's Issuance of Incorrect and Misleading Jury Instructions

Finally, during the charge conference the court entertained arguments pertaining to the "substantially certain" standard of liability, as mandated by the trial court's directed verdict finding that Saleeby was a borrowed servant of Elson. (T. 1852-1923). Saleeby argued that the jury should be instructed (consistent with this Court's decision in *Travelers Indemn. Co. v. PCR, Inc.*, 889 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 2004)), that an employer is liable for injuries sustained by its employees if the

employer should have known that these injuries were substantially certain to occur (T. 1862). However, the trial court opted instead to instruct the jury that an employer may be held liable only where a reasonably prudent person *would have understood* that injury was substantially certain to occur. (T. 2041). As a result, the jury was led to believe that Elson could be held liable for Saleeby's injuries only if Elson was subjectively aware that injury would occur.

The jury demonstrated its confusion on this point during its deliberations, asking, "Does recklessness imply *conscious* recklessness? (R35:2251).⁶

Further, in its instructions the trial court defined the term "Substantially certain" using the criminal jury instruction on the subject rather than the civil definition provided by this Court in by *Turner v. PCR*, 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000). This further confused the jury as to the state of mind required of Elson in order to hold Elson liable for Saleeby's injuries. (T. 1899). This confusion was demonstrated by the jury's questions in this regard, which asked for definitions of the multiple terms employed by the trial court in its definition. (T. 2245; 2251; 2253; 2256).

After entry of Final Judgment in favor of Elson, Saleeby appealed. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's Final Judgment, issuing

13

⁶ The judge advised the jury that it could not answer this question any better than the jury instructions that the jury had already been given (R35:2257-59).

an opinion directly addressing the trial court's admission of evidence of Saleeby's settlement with A-1, the court's directed verdict finding that Saleeby was a borrowed servant of Elson, and the jury instructions issue. *See Saleeby v. Rocky Elson Construction, Inc.*, 965 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

This Court accepted jurisdiction of the present case because the Fourth District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with *Ellis v. Weisbrot*, 550 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) and *City of Coral Gables v. Jordan*, 186 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966), *aff'd*, 191 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1966) and misapplies this Court's decision in *Dosdourian v. Carsten*, 624 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 1993).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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