IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALBERT SALEEBY,

Petitioner,

CASE NUMBER: SC07-2252

vs.

ROCKY ELSON CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Respondent.

L.T. Case No(s): 4D06-1535, 4D06-4349 4D07-5

ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS OF RESPONDENT

KIMBERLY A. ASHBY Florida Bar Number: 0322881 AKERMAN SENTERFITT 420 South Orange Avenue Suite 1200 Orlando, FL 32802-0231 Telephone: (407) 423-4000 Telefax: (407) 843-6610 Attorneys for Respondent, Rocky Elson Construction, Inc.

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

Petitioner first introduced evidence regarding the provision of workers' compensation insurance on direct examination of the help supply services company. The president of the labor supplier testified on direct examination that the exposure to his company was a great concern to him because of the provision of workers compensation. There was no testimony regarding amounts paid. The jury in this case was not asked to decide damages. Because the issue of workers compensation was first introduced by Petitioner, he cannot be heard to complain that the trial court committed reversible error by permitting Respondent to cross examine on the same topic, since the door was opened.

The trial court did not err in directing a verdict on the issue of whether Saleeby was a borrowed servant. There was no evidence to support a different conclusion on the facts. Florida's worker's compensation law extends an employer's immunity from tort liability to the work related injuries sustained by employees obtained through a "help supply services company", pursuant to section 440.11(2), Florida Statutes. No factual issues remained that Saleeby was working as a temporary employee for Labor For Hire and that Labor For Hire was a help supply services company as defined by the statute.

The contract between Elson and Labor For Hire included payment for the worker's compensation insurance for Saleeby, which was passed through as part of the cost to Elson for hiring Saleeby as a temporary employee. Petitioner was injured while performing work pursuant to the contract between Labor For Hire and Elson and thus the worker's compensation immunity applies pursuant to section 440.11(2).

There was no factual issue remaining regarding whether the contract under which Petitioner performed was modified in such a way as to prevent the application of section 440.11(2). Although the Labor For Hire representative contended after the fact that he did not understand the totality of the work which would have been performed by Saleeby on the job, he could not deny that his company accepted the payment for the labor and never attempted to rescind the contract in any way. The injuries were not sustained as a result of any of the work Petitioner did, or was asked to perform. The trusses which fell were on a portion of the building that had been installed on days before Petitioner worked. The work performed was within the types of work which were defined by the contract. The jury ultimately found there was no substantial certainty of injury or death as a result of the actions of Elson. The construction of the contract was reviewable by the trial court as a matter of law. The elements of the contract were complete: offer, and acceptance, and full performance by both parties. One party's unilateral attempt to reject the effect of the contract after the completion by both parties to that agreement is of no effect.

Further, there was no error in the jury instruction given. Petitioner has not elucidated any semantical difference between "should have known" and "would have understood." This Court has used both phrases to describe the objective standard for "substantial certainty." If these words had the same effect, there could have been no misunderstanding by the jury.

The Final Judgment and the decision of the Fourth District should be affirmed in all respects. Alternatively, the Court should determine that there is no express and direct conflict with any other Florida case, and therefore, no jurisdiction in the Court.

ARGUMENT AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellee agrees with the standards of review as recited by Appellant.

POINT I: NO ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN REFERENCING A-1 ROOF TRUSSES STATUS AS A PRIOR DEFENDANT, AND THAT A-1 HAD SETTLED SINCE PETITIONER CALLED A-1 PRESIDENT AS AN EXPERT WITNESS WHOSE OPINION WAS RENDERED WHEN A-1 WAS A PARTY DEFENDANT

Petitioner claims as error the trial court's admission of evidence that Petitioner's expert, Mr. Herring, was the president of A-1 which was a codefendant at the time Herring rendered his expert opinion that the manufacture of the trusses was not a contributing cause of the accident. A-1 was the manufacturer of the trusses which failed. The fact that Petitioner elected to list and call Herring as an expert is the distinguishing factor to all of the cases cited by Petitioner on this point. Additionally, Petitioner's counsel made a tactical decision to ask Herring about settlement on direct examination, and therefore waived any argument on appeal.

Expert opinions, by their very nature, carry great weight with a jury because the court instructs them that this person has been especially qualified to testify, and they are permitted to opine as to the ultimate issue as though it were true. This has the effect of diminishing the jury's role as the finder of fact. Experts are called to assist juries on particular fact issues which require a certain degree of expertise and are out of the ordinary ken of the average juror. §90.702, *Fla. Stat.*

Instead of calling an expert who was independent of the accident, Petitioner selected the president of the truss company which manufactured the trusses which were involved in the accident. Herring opined that the trusses could not have failed and that it must have been the installation means and methods that caused the accident. Herring rendered his opinion originally at a time when his company was a party defendant being sued by Petitioner, which could have easily given a reason to be biased in his conclusions regarding the manufacture versus the installation.

Invited error cannot be the basis for reversible error. *See Bould v. Touchette*, 349 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1997). In this case, Petitioner's counsel asked those questions of Herring on direct examination which he contends now led to prejudicial error. If the jury was swayed by the fact that Herring's company was previously a defendant which had settled with the plaintiff, it must be due equally to Petitioner's introduction of that very evidence.

In addition, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in the admission of the evidence regarding A-1's prior position because the impeachment of the expert's credibility outweighed the prejudice that A-1 had settled with the plaintiff. *Dosdourian v. Carsten*, 624 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 1993). In *Dosdourian*, the Court held that there are proper instances for the jury to be informed about the settlement of a co-defendant. In that case, the Court addressed the scenario of a defendant settling and continuing to defend the case. The Court expressed the concern: "Even possible collusion between the plaintiff and the settling defendant creates an inherently unfair trial setting that could lead to an inequitable attribution of guilt and damages to the non-settling defendant." *Id. at 244*.

In the same way, Petitioner's use of the codefendant as an expert *for the plaintiff* to testify as to the cause of the accident, and whether there was a substantial certainty of death or serious injury, created an unfair trial setting to Elson if not permitted to advise the jury of the expert's motivations at the time he

rendered his opinion. There is no harm or error in the cross-examination of an expert of biases such as the proclivity to testify for plaintiffs or defendants, or to statistically favor one particular final opinion. As in this case, there was no error in the exploration of the fact Herring had never once found an error in the manufacture of trusses.

One other rationale for admission of the evidence is found in *Dosdourian*, and may be found here. While it is well recognized that public policy generally favors the encouragement of settlements between parties and the avoidance of litigation, the Court reasoned that the failure to disclose certain types of settlement information to a jury may actually encourage additional litigation, and have the opposite effect than intended. 624 So. 2d at 245. In *Dosdourain*, the issue was Mary Carter agreements. The Court noted that permitting a settling defendant to remain and defend as though a true litigant, without advising the jury, would actually encourage more cases to go to trial against the nonsettling defendants, and the increased likelihood of post trial attacks on appeal. *Id*.

In *Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., Inc. v. Ross,* 660 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1995), this Court held it was *error* for the trial court *to exclude* evidence of a pretrial settlement which resulted in a dismissal only at a point when it was a "tactical decision" by the plaintiff to prevent the fact of settlement from coming before the jury. The Court recognized that the non-settling defendant was so

prejudiced that a new trial was required in which the fact of settlement would be admissible. Petitioner waived his objection by the inquiry on direct examination, notwithstanding his arguments otherwise. *See §90.104(1); Sheffield v. Superior Ins. Co.*, 800 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 2001).

The cases cited by Petitioner do not involve the plaintiff listing and calling a codefendant as an expert witness to opine on the ultimate fact to be decided by the jury. In *Ellis v. Weisbot*, 550 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), the 3d DCA was not presented with a codefendant as expert. It is unclear from the opinion what the witness testified to and whether there was any other evidentiary reason for admission of the evidence of settlement and dismissal.

City of Coral Gables v. Jordan, 186 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 3d DCA), aff'd 191 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1966) is distinguishable from the invited error here because of the facts of the case. Plaintiff's decedent was a passenger in a motor scooter accident. Plaintiff and the driver of the scooter sued the City for negligence. In the plaintiff's case the City took the position the accident was solely the fault of the driver. The fact the City settled with the driver caused the City's defense to "evaporate", according to the 3d DCA. *Id at 63*.

In *Ricks v. Loyola*, 822 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 2002), the Court examined the parameters of the trial court's discretion in granting mistrial and new trial motion, and did not address the cross-examination of the plaintiff's expert as a former

defendant in the case. *See also Muhammad v. Toys-R-Us*, 668 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)(defendant asked venire to consider that plaintiff may have already settled with manufacturer, which was untrue); *Henry v. Beacon Ambulance Service, Inc.*, 424 So. 2d 914, 915 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (disclosure of settlement of a party error when first raised in closing argument).

Fenberg v. Rosenthal, 348 Ill. App. 510, 109 N.E. 2d 402 (Ill. App. 1952), relied upon by Petitioner, highlights what the concern actually is when settlements by third parties are disclosed to the jury. It is because the settling party may be facing a separate action from another injured party and such evidence would be evidence of admission of fault, which would dissuade the party from settling. However, in the present case, A-1 faced no such separate liability and there was no threat to A-1 or the witness at all, who was being compensated to testify on the element of causation. *See also Embalmers' Supply Co. v. Giannitti*, 103 Conn. App. 20, 929 A. 2d 729 (Conn. App. 2007) (settlement of a non-party can be an exception to the exclusion of such evidence).

In *Cenvill Communities, Inc. v. Patti,* 458 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), the Court *reversed an order granting new trial* made by the plaintiff who contended that reference to a claim made on another defendant constituted reversible error. After the jury returned a verdict in favor of the non-settling defendant, the trial court granted a new trial based on the argument that reference to the other claim was error. The 4th DCA *reversed* the trial court's granting of new trial finding that reference to the claim had its place, and was proper, in light of the intervening cause defense brought by the defendant. According to the court, to hold otherwise would be reversible error and abuse of discretion. Thus, the trial court properly admitted the evidence here.

Petitioner argues that he relied on the in limine ruling of the trial court when he elected to call Herring as his expert witness on causation. However, Florida law provides that all non-final orders may be revisited by the trial court until the final order is entered. *See Commercial Garden Mall v. Success Academy, Inc.*, 453 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). Additionally, Petitioner did not make the argument that an estoppel should apply when the trial court considered the introduction of evidence at trial. Also, this was at a point after the Petitioner had asked on direct about A-1's status in the case, and therefore opened the door to cross-examination. Petitioner was on early notice that Respondent sought to introduce the fact that his expert was a defendant who was facing its own liability at the time he formed his expert opinion.

The policy consideration in this case is not whether settlements between parties will be discouraged due to disclosure to a jury. The only foreseeable consequence is that plaintiffs will be discouraged from using former defendants as their testifying experts. Since there is no paucity of experts to draw from, even in the area of failing roof trusses, there is no breach of a policy to rightly inform a jury of the prejudices that may have attended the expert at the time he was forming his opinion on the cause of the accident.

Numerous jurisdictions recognize that there are valid instances when the evidence of the settlement of a party should be introduced, either as impeachment or for other reasons. *See Bankers Trust Co. v. Basciano*, 960 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007)(settlement discussion were between two other parties, and admitted to show plaintiff's intent); *Schafer v. RMS Realty*,138 Ohio App. 3d 244, 295, 741 N.E. 2d 155, 192 (Ohio App. 2000) (settlement evidence admissible when offered to show witness bias); *TCA Building Co. v. Northwestern Resources Co.*, 922 S. W. 2d 629, 636 (Tex. App. 1996); *Conley v. Treasurer of Mo.*, 999 S.W. 2d 269, 275 (Mo. App. 1999) (settlement evidence admissible to show percentage of disability from last injury); *Brothers v. Public Sch. Employees of Wash.*, 88 Wash. App. 398, 406, 945 P. 2d 208, 212 (Wash. App. 1997) (settlement evidence no excluded when offered for another purpose such as showing bias or prejudice).

For all of these reasons, the trial court properly permitted the inquiry of the expert's potential biases as part of the cross-examination by the Respondent.

POINT II: PETITIONER INVITED INQUIRY AS TO LABOR FOR HIRE'S PROVISION OF WORKERS COMPENSATION BENEFITS WHEN PETITIONER SPECIFICALLY INQUIRED ABOUT CONCERN FOR THE COMPANY'S EXPOSURE

During trial, on direct examination, Petitioner's counsel specifically inquired of Gomez: Q. "What about any exposure to your company for an accident of that person that you send out was doing what they were not sent out to do and perhaps cause an accident; is that a concern" (T. 1280). Gomez responded: A. "That is always a huge concern." (T. 1280). On cross examination, defense counsel asked what exposure caused the great concern for Gomez.

It is inescapable that Petitioner's counsel invited the Respondent's inquiry by expressly inquiring of Gomez on direct examination whether he was concerned about exposure to his company, and to which Gomez responded that such was of huge concern. It not only was not error to allow cross examination on the issue of the "exposure" of great concern, but it would have been highly prejudicial and error to have prohibited such a cross–examination. Petitioner sought to leave the jury with the impression that Labor For Hire had a "great concern" for exposure. As the employer to Petitioner, that exposure would normally be through a workers compensation claim. Under the circumstances, Elson was left with no reasonable choice but to follow up with inquiry regarding the nature of the concern. For these reasons the cases cited by Petitioner do not apply to this case.

In *Cook v. Eney*, 277 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), there was no instance of invited inquiry by plaintiff's counsel. It is also important to note that the primary concern in *Cook* was that the jury may have decided the plaintiff was

already taken care of due to the payment of workers compensation benefits. Here there was no damages decision to be made by the jury. Also, there was no discussion of the nature of the specific benefits paid, or any other indication the jury was swayed by the discussion of "exposure" to Labor For Hire, invited error or otherwise.

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